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MINUTES OF THE KENT COUNTY LEVY COURT 
COMBINED BUSINESS MEETING 

KENT COUNTY ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLEX 
555 BAY ROAD, DOVER, DE 

LEVY COURT CHAMBER, ROOM 203 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 9, 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Call to Order 
 
The Business Meeting of the Kent County Levy Court was called to order at  
7:00 p.m. by President Pepper. 
 
Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance 
 
The Invocation was led by Mr. Howell; the Pledge of Allegiance was led by   
Mrs. Masten.  
 
Moment of Silence for our Troops and First Responders 
 
A moment of silence was observed for our Troops and First Responders and 
led by Mr. Sweeney. 
 
Roll Call and Determination of Quorum 
 
   Allan F. Angel            Vice President 
   Eric L. Buckson  Commissioner - Absent 
   Jeffrey W. Hall  Commissioner    
   Glen M. Howell  Commissioner  
   Joanne Masten   Commissioner 
   George W. Sweeney, Sr. Commissioner  
   Terry L. Pepper  President 
 
There are six (6) Commissioners present; one (1) absent at Roll Call. 
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  Adoption of Agenda 
 

M-21-236 Motion was made by Mr. Angel to approve the agenda; seconded by 
 Mr. Sweeney; carried by Roll Call vote six (6) yeas; one (1) absent. 

 
  Consent Agenda 21-11 
  Items on the Consent Agenda are considered routine and/or non-

 controversial and will be acted upon by a single roll call vote of the Levy 
 Court.  There will be no separate discussion of these items unless a 
 Commissioner so requests, in which event the items shall be removed 
 from the Consent Agenda and considered separately under New Business. 

• Approval of Levy Court Business Meeting Minutes of Tuesday, 
September 28, 2021  

• Committee Meeting Item from November 2nd:  
o New Billing/Collections Analyst Position and Description 

 
M-21-237 Motion was made by Mr. Sweeney to approve Consent Agenda; seconded 
  by Mr. Hall; carried by Roll Call vote six (6) yeas; one (1) absent. 
 
  PRESENTATIONS 
 
  Resolution 3904, Proclaiming Kent County a Purple Heart County  
   
  Lorri Tanaka read the following into the record: 
   
  Whereas the residence of can't county have great respect, admiration, and the  
  utmost gratitude for all of the men and women who have selflessly served their  
  country and this community; and  
 
  Whereas, whereas the contributions and sacrifices of the men and women from  
  Kent County that served in the Armed Forces have been vital in maintaining the  
  freedoms and way of life enjoyed by our citizens; and 
 
  Whereas, the Kent County Levy Court seeks to honor these individuals who have 
  paid the high price for freedom by placing themselves in harm's way for the good  
  of all; and 
 
  Whereas, on August 7th, 1782, General George Washington issued an order  
  establishing the Badge of Military Merit to honor merit, particularly among the  
  enlisted soldiers; and 
 
  Whereas, on February 22nd, 1932, the badge of Military Merit was renamed the  
  Purple Heart, which is awarded to any member of the United States Armed Forces 
  wounded or killed and combat by a declared the enemy of the United States; and  
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  Whereas, many citizens of Kent County are recipients of the Purple Heart Medal  
  as a result of being wounded or killed while engaged in combat with an enemy  
  force, construed as a singular meritorious act of essential service; and 
 
  Whereas, the Kent County Levy Court appreciates the sacrifices our Purple Heart 
  recipients made while defending freedom and believes specific recognition have  
  accorded them in appreciation of their courage and to demonstrate the honor  
  and support they earned;  
 
  Now, therefore, be it resolved that on this the 9th day of November, 2021, the  
  Kent County Levy Court hereby declares Kent County Delaware as a Purple  
  Heart County, honoring the service and sacrifices of our men and women in  
  uniform wounded or killed by the enemy while serving to protect the freedoms of  
  all Americans; and 
 
  Be it further resolved that a copy of this resolution shall be forwarded to the  
  Military Order of the Purple. 
 
M-21-238 Motion to approve Resolution 3904 was made by Mr. Angel; seconded by  
  Mr. Sweeney; carried by Roll Call vote six (6) yeas; one (1) absent. 
 

Mr. Pepper:  Gentlemen, congratulations.  I guess the best words for it 
would be welcome to Levy Court.  Thank you for coming to represent the 
Purple Heart recipients.  We are honored to do this for you and 
designating Kent County a Purple Heart County.  We have many heroes 
from Kent County, and it's just one way that we can recognize them and 
we appreciate you being here tonight.  Thank you for carrying it on your 
mission, appreciate it. 
 
Mr. Angel:  Yes thank you very much.  My father just passed and I buried 
him this past week and he was a Purple Heart recipient.  In fact, he should 
have had to Purple Hearts and when I went after to get his second Purple 
Heart, he said, son one's enough.  Thank you very much *INAUDIBLE* 
heroes.  
 
Mrs. Masten:  Thank you so much for your service and it's an honor to be 
here with all of you. 
 
Mr. Howell:  I agree, thank you very much for being here.  It’s an honor for us.  
We appreciate your service.  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Sweeney:  Thank you for service and we appreciate you coming out and I’m 
very happy to do this.  
 
Mr. Hall:  Very honored to have you here tonight.  Thank you very much for your 
service. 
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Mr. Petit de Mange:  Like Commissioner Angel, my father was severely injured 
in combat as well during World War II during Operation Husky, the invasion of 
Sicily.  And so what you represent means a lot to me and my family, we greatly 
appreciate it.  Thank you.  
 
Mr. Pepper:  Thank you. And you have something there?   
 
Unidentified Representation:  Yes, sir, if you don’t mind? 
 
Mr. Pepper:  Sure. 
 
Unidentified Representative:  On behalf of the Military Order of the Purple Heart 
we have a special recognition to bestow with pride on Kent County, Delaware for 
your dedication and support of honoring America's combat wounded veterans and 
becoming a Purple Heart County, presented by the members…Patriot members of 
the Department of Delaware Military of the Purple Heart.  And we all thank you 
very much and this will join the rest of that we have in the Country doing the 
same thing.  It's really the honor.  After Vietnam, we were not welcome back like 
we are nowadays.  And this is a big thing for us, and we really do appreciate it.  
 
Mr. Pepper:  Thank you and we will proudly display this and…we'll proudly 
display that and I think we've got the appropriate place for that.  It's really nice.  
 
An exchange was made between Mr. Pepper and the representative of the Military 
of the Purple Heart and commemorative photos were taken of those presents. 
 
*Commissioner Buckson present at 7:20 p.m. 
  
Resolution 3905, Special Kent County Presentation 
 
The following was read into the record by Mr. Angel: 
 
Resolution 3905 Kent County Medal for Judy Diogo. 
 
Whereas, President Judy Diogo of the central Delaware Chamber of Commerce 
is retiring after 17 years of advocating on the behalf of big and small businesses in 
Kent County at the Delaware General Assembly and before the Levy Court, and 
spending countless hours organizing community events, supporting Dover Air 
Force Base, encouraging job growth manufacturing, contributing to the 
development of the area’s workforce and economic development, promoting 
tourism’s economic impact, partnering with area organizations and agencies for 
the good of the central Delaware business community, and in the last 18 months 
tenaciously rallying for businesses as they have struggled through the COVID-19 
Pandemic; and  
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Whereas, under her stellar leadership and insightful influence, the CDCC has 
flourished, experiencing 40% membership growth and expanding its impact and 
voice in the Dover area business community by demonstrating that the 5-star 
nationally accredited Chamber is, without a doubt, THE essential resource for 
businesses in central Delaware; and 
 
Whereas, Judy Diogo is a lifelong Delawarean, born in Houston, and began her 
career at the Chamber of Commerce for Greater Milford before serving as the 
director of development at Kent-Sussex Industries, a not-for-profit vocational 
rehabilitation organization; and  
 
Whereas, Judy Diogo has been recommended for a Kent County Medal in 
accordance with the provisions of Kent County Levy Court policy and the 
requirements thereof;  
 
Now, therefore, be it resolved that the Kent County Levy Court does hereby 
recognize, commend, and award Judy Diogo of Dover, Delaware with a Kent 
County Medal for Meritorious Service on this the 9th day of November 2021. 
 
Mr. Angel:  Even though I just read this into the record, there’s a few more things 
I want to say that’s not on here.  Your leadership for central Delaware, the 
Bluesuiters Golf Tournament, the State Base Briefing, Military Affair Honorary 
Commander program…she's been busy…Judy has an infectious smile that gets 
things done.  Her optimistic cheerleading chant, rah, rah, ree, kick them in the 
knee?  Rah, rah, rahs, kick him in the…other knee!  Just to get people to look at 
what we're doing in our County.  So, with this, I'm going to say you've done a lot, 
we're going to miss you and I hope you stay close by.   
 
Mrs. Masten:  Congratulations on a job well done and you will be missed. 
 
Mr. Buckson:  Well, done champ, it's been a pleasure and honor.  I hope you don't 
leave us and I can call on you for advice because you've been a champion as you 
already…well, if you don't know you should know.  Thank you very much. 
 
Mr. Pepper:  Judy, you make us look good.  And so you are our…I consider you 
our number one cheerleader.  And you've done an outstanding job.  Everybody 
knows you, of course, you know, everybody too.  But you've done an outstanding 
job for the County.  Really, really hate to let you go, but you're not…at least 
you're not leaving the State so you'll be close by.  We just wanted to do something 
to recognize you for all that you've done, all the jobs you've helped create, all the  
people that you've helped, all the businesses that you've helped.  It takes a 
special person to reach out like you've done and get…bring people 
together and you've done a fantastic job so that's why we're here tonight to 
resent you with this. 
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Mr. Howell:  I agree for the, about 11 years I’ve been with Levy Court I've 
seen you everywhere, a bunch of times.  And you're active and you're 
always cheerful.  And this recognition is just a small token for our 
appreciation. 
 
Mr. Sweeney:  Judy, this is well deserved, everything that you've done for 
the County.  I sincerely hope that you're not just going to melt into the 
background because the County will be worse off if you're not continuing 
to be a part of it.  Thank you.  
 
Mr. Hall:  Congratulations and it's been honor working with you on the 
Chamber.  Appreciate your leadership, especially for the last two years.  
Trying times and it was really your leadership that, you know instrumental 
for small businesses in this County. So thank you. 
 
Mr. Petit de Mange:  Judy, a lot's been said, all well, deserved.  I think 
your greatest attribute, and I've shared this with you before, is your 
boundless enthusiasm.  No matter what you're doing, where you're at, 
what the circumstances are, you're always up and, you know, cheerful and 
as Glen said just a great representative for the entire County, the business 
community.  I know they all immensely appreciate what you've done over 
your 17 years with the Chamber.  And, you know, if you could bottle that 
enthusiasm and sell it you'd make a zillion dollars, I guarantee it.  So 
congratulations, so glad we were able to honor you this way. 
 
Mr. Pepper:  You're number 34.  We don't just hand this medal out willy  
nilly, you really have to deserve it and as you'll see it’s engraved with your 
name on the back and it also has a number on there, I believe you’re 
number 34.  So congratulations, well, deserved and now, don't you hate to 
leave us?  
 
Ms. Diogo:  *INAUDIBLE*  Well, I'm extremely humbled extremely, 
extremely, and I'm extremely honored.  It has been such a privilege to 
work with each and every one of you.  It has been the greatest joy that I 
have ever had supporting and being the voice for the businesses here in 
Kent County.  It is something I will always hold dear to my heart and I 
promise I will never be far away, you all have my number, you know 
where to call me.  If you need me, I will come at any time.  But it takes a 
village, and I really do appreciate each and every one of you because each 
and every one of you have given me so much support through the 17 years 
and many of the people sitting out here they have just…they've always 
been there and you just don't do this by yourself.  So I really want to have 
this opportunity to say, thank you. Thank you all who are in this room for 
everything that you do because together we make Kent County special.  
It's not just one person.  So I thank you.  I am absolutely honored…just 
thank you so very much. 
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Mr. Pepper:  Well, you know what, we were so excited to give this to you 
we kind of got ahead of ourselves.  I don't think we voted did we?  Did we 
vote to do this?  Lorri, we better take a Roll Call vote to make sure we’re 

  still going to give this to her.  (The Commissioners responded with a  
M-21-239  “Yea” or a raise of the hand).  There you go, never mind Lorri, we got it 

taken care of. 
 
Everyone joined in for personal congratulations and photographs. 
 
Tributes of Appreciation to Volunteer Youth Sports Coaches 
 
Ms. Tanaka read the following into the record: 
 
There are a total of 42 Volunteer Youth Sports Coaches that this tribute of 
appreciation has been prepared for.  The tribute reads: 
 
On this Tuesday, November 9th, 2021, the Levy Court pays tribute to 
these individuals for having volunteered their time and passion, coaching, 
youth sports through Kent County Parks and Recreation during the Fall of 
2021. 
 
Kent County Parks and Recreation sponsors the Kent County Youth 
Soccer League and the Junior NBA Basketball League that services nearly 
500 children and their families in Kent County.  Without the help of 
volunteer coaches, these leagues would not be possible.  The passion for 
sports and the youth of Kent County shown by volunteer coaches drives 
the success of the experience of the participants in families. 
 
The Levy Court sincerely appreciates and thanks these individuals for 
their outstanding and dedicated service towards making a successful 
program and for bringing the joy of sports to the children of Kent County.  
Congratulations on a job well done. 
 
Jeremy Shepard, Director, Kent County Parks and Recreation:  Okay, just 
a couple of words before I call down individuals.  Again, you know 
through the pandemic for almost the last two years there's been a very 
limited amount of programming that parks and recreation has been able to 
do.  And it's even harder when you're trying to find people to volunteer 
during those hard times.  And that's why this is really a special moment 
because even though a lot of them didn't show up because they're busy 
with their families and their life they really are just gold to us, you know, 
in order to continue to run these programs, the best that we can during 
these tough times.  So, what I'll do is, I'm going to start with the Junior 
NBA coaches that have come tonight.  I’ll call them down one by one, if 
you'd like to come down and maybe do the line, shake hands and then stay 



  11/09/2021 
 

8 
 

up for a picture.  Then I'll get to the KYSL.  Okay, does that sound good? 
All right, first one Amir Willingham, Antwon Parker, Chuck 
Goodman, Kelby Peace-Bullock, Michael Bowden and Mike Gorman.  
Those are our Junior NBA coaches that came tonight.   
 
Now for our Kent Youth Soccer league, and this league this fall had 403 
participants in it so, just an amazing effort.  Our first coach is Alexander 
Griffin, Amanda Landry, Fernando Villena, and Jeffrey Thompson.  
If there was anybody else that came in and didn't get checked in, please let 
me know.  Okay, alright those are our coaches, some of them.  Again, 
thank you so much for your volunteer service, without you guys and gals 
the programs just don't work.  Team photo time, absolutely.  Thank you 
again everybody. 
 
Mr. Pepper:  Thank you folks, appreciate all your time. 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

Resolution Regarding Issuance of Bonds to Finance Projects for 
Bayhealth Medical Center, Inc. 

 
Mrs. Masten:  
1. A Resolution approving, in accordance with Section 147(f) of the 

Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and in accordance with 
Section 660304 (11) (A) of the Wisconsin Statutes, the Issuance of 
Bonds to Finance Projects for Bayhealth Medical Center, Inc. 

 
Emilie Ninan, Ballard Spahr, Bond Council:  This public hearing and 
bond transaction is a little bit different than what we usually discuss. 
These bonds are not actually going to be issued by the County.  It's going 
to be issued by a different issuer because the project is in two different 
Counties, in Kent and Sussex.  But the tax code requires that we have a 
local hearing…public hearing so that those who live close to the project 
have a chance to comment and then the highest elected official of the 
County is required to pass the resolution.  In this case because we don't 
have an elected executive at the County level this resolution is coming to 
the whole legislative body of Levy Court.  So again, in this case the 
County itself will not be issuing any bonds. You're just helping facilitate 
the issuance for Bayhealth and as a result there's no liability to the County, 
there's no cost to the County.  There's no credit of the County being used 
for this transaction.  I'm happy to answer any questions. 
 
Mr. Pepper:  Any questions?   
 
Public Hearing Open on Resolution Regarding Issuance of Bonds to 
Finance Projects for Bayhealth Medical Center, Inc. 
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IN FAVOR 
 
Bill Holmes, 724 South State Street, Dover, DE:   I'm very much in favor 
of this, the hospital is wonderful. We have great nurses, doctors, people 
that work there are great.  My family has owned property next to the 
hospital since 1952.  I'm the only person in Dover that still owns property 
next to the hospital, they bought everybody else out.  I've been trying to 
sell my property for eight months and the reason I can't sell it is because 
everybody says, there goes the helicopter and so forth.  But I…  When 
they gave the smoking ban up, I had a lot of smokers in my backyard.  
They burned my fence down and thanks to Dr. Jawahar and the Robbins 
Hose Company, they put it out.  I never complained about it.  They have 
trucks parking next to my property line that I have to look at all the time.  
And it's a great hospital, I'm all in favor of what they want to do.  But 
they're devaluing my property and everybody that comes and look at it to 
buy it says that's why they don't want to buy it.  Now I'm very much in 
favor of this project and hope you will approve it but at the same time, the 
hospital has to reach out to me and sit down with me and talk to me.  
Either they're going to buy my property or they're going to make some 
arrangements to stop what's going on in the neighborhood because I'm the 
only one…I can sit in my kitchen and look at patients in their beds, I’m 
that close.  They build up to my property so close.  So, I just want to say, 
I'm very much in favor of this application and I hope that you will approve 
it.  But I just wanted to give you a little update of what's going on in my 
world.  I appreciate your time and Santa Claus would like to congratulate 
Judy for the…for the many years you gave.  And I want to congratulate all 
you for what you do for the County.  You people do a great job and the 
County’s lucky to have you.  And thanks for giving me a few minutes so I 
can get up and say how I feel.  But we have a wonderful hospital.  It's just 
amazing what they've done there.  I'm not against the hospital.  I'm just 
going to catch 22.  Thank you very much and I appreciate your time. 
 
Mr. Buckson:  Chairman?  Mr. Holmes?  I know we would all be remiss if 
we didn't reciprocate the accolades, and thank you for the things that 
you've done for this community, because they are many.   
 
Mr. Holmes:  Well I don't know about that, it’s… 
 
Mr. Buckson:  Humbles of pie you eat, I appreciate you and I'm sure the 
others feel the same way, buddy.  
 
Mr. Holmes:  Thank you all very much, you're very kind and I appreciate 
it very much.  Keep up the good work.  God bless you all.   
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Mr. Pepper:  Thank you, Bill.  Anyone else in the audience?  Yes, sir, 
please give your name and address and be sworn or affirmed. 
 
Mike Tretino, 44 Cinnamon Way, Dover, DE:  I serve as the Chief 
Financial Officer for Bayhealth and I support the projects.  They are 
severely needed to improve the access of care to grow physicians, there's a 
huge physician need in Delaware and to provide a single patient rooms for 
our patients so we don't have roommates during a pandemic.  So, thank 
you. 
 
Mr. Pepper:  Any questions?  Thank you, sir.  Anyone else? 
 
WebEx participants in favor of this application who wished to address 
Levy Court were asked to press *3 on their mobile device or raise their 
electronic hand on their computer.  No response. 
 
IN OPPOSITION - None 
 
WebEx participants in opposition of this application who wished to 
address Levy Court were asked to press *3 on their mobile device or raise 
their electronic hand on their computer.  No response. 
 
Public Hearing Closed on Resolution Regarding Issuance of Bonds to 
Finance Projects for Bayhealth Medical Center, Inc. 
 

M-21-240 Mrs. Masten:  I Motion to approve in accordance with Section 147 (f) of  
  the Internal Revenue code of 1986 as amended and in accordance with  
  Section 66.0304 (11) (A) of the Wisconsin Statutes, the Issuance of Bonds 
  to Finance Projects for Bayhealth Medical Center, Inc.;  seconded by  
  Mr. Angel; carried by Roll Call vote seven (7) yeas.   

 
Roll Call 
 
Mr. Angel:  Yes, reasons stated by our Bond Council Emilie Ninan and no 
opposition. 
 
Mr. Buckson:  Yes, reasons stated. 
 
Mr. Hall:  Yes, for reasons stated.  
 
Mr. Howell:  Yes, reasons stated. 
 
Mrs. Masten:  Yes, reasons stated.  
 
Mr. Sweeney:  Yes, for all reasons stated.  
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Mr. Pepper:  Yes, for all reasons stated.    
 
Roll Call vote reasons seven (7) yeas.  Resolution 3904 has been 
approved. 
 
CLOSE PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

 Recess to Committee Meetings – 7:43 p.m. 
 
 Reconvene Business Meeting – 8:11 
 
 OLD BUSINESS – None  
 
 NEW BUSINESS 
 
 Mr. Angel:  Potential Action Items from Committee: 

1. Update on Proposed Grant Programs for Small Business & Hospitality 
Industry 

 
M-21-241 I Move to designate $3 Million in Kent County American Rescue Plan Act 
  funding for the purpose of establishing a Kent County Small Business  
  Assistant Grant Program in partnership with the Central Delaware   
  Chamber of Commerce that will provide financial relief for non for profit  
  small businesses based in Kent County that can be successfully   
  demonstrate negative financial impacts on their business as a direct result  
  of COVID-19 Pandemic through a Grant Application and Review Process  
  established and administered by the Central Delaware Chamber of   
  Commerce; and  

 
I further Move to designate $2 Million in Kent County American Rescue 
Plan Act funding for the purpose of establishing a Kent County 
Hospitality Industry Grant Program in partnership with Kent County 
Tourism Corporation that will provide financial relief to for-profit tourism 
industry businesses located in Kent County, including but not limited to 
hotels, motels, banquet and meeting room facilities, that can successfully 
demonstrate negative financial impacts on their business as a direct result 
of the COVID-19 Pandemic through a Grant Application and Review 
Process established and administered by Kent County Tourism 
Corporation; seconded by Mrs. Masten; carried by Roll Call vote seven (7) 
yeas. 

 
2. Kent Economic Partnership – Strategic Fund Requests 

1) USA Fulfillment 
 
M-21-242 I Move to authorize the issuance of an Economic Development Grant in  
  the amount of $10,000 to USA Fulfillment as financial assistance to  



  11/09/2021 
 

12 
 

  acquire automated conveyance equipment, scanners, and a Cubiscan  
  shipping solution, to be installed in their plant located at 1886 Lynsbury  
  Woods Road, Kent County, Delaware; with the source of the funding for  
  said Grant being the Kent County Strategic Development Fund, and I  
  further Move that 100% of the said Grant amount shall be disbursed to the 
  Grantee upon receipt by the County of evidence that the said property  
  purchase has been consummated and equipment installed; seconded by  
  Mr. Hall; carried by Roll Call vote seven (7) yeas. 

 
2) Garrison Redesign 

 
M-21-243 I Move to authorize the issuance of an Economic Development Grant in  
  the amount of $6,000 to City of Dover as financial assistance for a   
  redesign investigation/concept plan of the Garrison Oak Industrial Park  
  located in Kent County, Delaware; with the source of the funding for said  
  Grant being the Kent County Strategic Development Fund, and I further  
  Move that 100% of the said Grant amount shall be disbursed to the  
  Grantee upon receipt by the County of evidence that the said redesign  
  invoice has been paid in full; seconded by Mr. Sweeney; carried by Roll  
  Call vote seven (7) yeas. 
 
  Mr. Buckson:  

1. Reintroduce Ordinance LC21-15, An Ordinance to amend the 
Comprehensive Plan Map Designation and the Official Zoning Map of 
Kent County, Delaware pursuant to the provisions of Kent County 
Code, Vol. II, Chapter 205 Zoning, Article III, Section 205-8 and 
Section 205-9, and Article XXVII (changes and amendments) 
effective December 01, 2000, as amended (Reference Application CZ-
21-04) for Public Hearing on Tuesday, December 21, 2021 at 7 p.m.  
 

2. Introduction of Ordinance LC21-22, An Ordinance to amend the 
Comprehensive Plan Map Designation and the Official Zoning Map of 
Kent County, Delaware pursuant to the provisions of Kent County 
Code, Vol. II, Chapter 205 Zoning, Article III, Section 205-8 and 
Section 205-9, and Article XXVIII (changes and amendments) 
effective December 01, 2000, as amended. (Reference Application 
CZ-21-08) for Public Hearing on Tuesday, December 21, 2021 at 7 
p.m. 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 
Mr. Angel: 

M-21-244 Move to go into Executive Session immediately following the Committee  
  Meetings of November 16, 2021 for preliminary discussion on site   
  acquisition for a publicly funded capital improvement; legal strategy  
  session regarding collective bargaining or pending or potential litigation;  
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MINUTES OF THE KENT COUNTY LEVY COURT

COMBINED BUSINESS MEETING

KENT COUNTY ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLEX

555 BAY ROAD, DOVER, DE

LEVY COURT CHAMBER, ROOM 203

TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 9, 2021













Call to Order



The Business Meeting of the Kent County Levy Court was called to order at 

7:00 p.m. by President Pepper.



Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance



The Invocation was led by Mr. Howell; the Pledge of Allegiance was led by 	

Mrs. Masten. 



Moment of Silence for our Troops and First Responders



A moment of silence was observed for our Troops and First Responders and led by Mr. Sweeney.



Roll Call and Determination of Quorum



			Allan F. Angel		         	Vice President

			Eric L. Buckson		Commissioner	- Absent

			Jeffrey W. Hall		Commissioner   

			Glen M. Howell		Commissioner 

			Joanne Masten			Commissioner

			George W. Sweeney, Sr.	Commissioner 

			Terry L. Pepper		President



There are six (6) Commissioners present; one (1) absent at Roll Call.





		Adoption of Agenda



M-21-236	Motion was made by Mr. Angel to approve the agenda; seconded by 	Mr. Sweeney; carried by Roll Call vote six (6) yeas; one (1) absent.



		Consent Agenda 21-11

		Items on the Consent Agenda are considered routine and/or non-	controversial and will be acted upon by a single roll call vote of the Levy 	Court.  There will be no separate discussion of these items unless a 	Commissioner so requests, in which event the items shall be removed 	from the Consent Agenda and considered separately under New Business.

· Approval of Levy Court Business Meeting Minutes of Tuesday, September 28, 2021 

· Committee Meeting Item from November 2nd: 

· New Billing/Collections Analyst Position and Description



M-21-237	Motion was made by Mr. Sweeney to approve Consent Agenda; seconded 		by Mr. Hall; carried by Roll Call vote six (6) yeas; one (1) absent.



		PRESENTATIONS



		Resolution 3904, Proclaiming Kent County a Purple Heart County 

		

		Lorri Tanaka read the following into the record:

		

		Whereas the residence of can't county have great respect, admiration, and the 			utmost gratitude for all of the men and women who have selflessly served their 			country and this community; and 



		Whereas, whereas the contributions and sacrifices of the men and women from 			Kent County that served in the Armed Forces have been vital in maintaining the 			freedoms and way of life enjoyed by our citizens; and



		Whereas, the Kent County Levy Court seeks to honor these individuals who have 		paid the high price for freedom by placing themselves in harm's way for the good 			of all; and



		Whereas, on August 7th, 1782, General George Washington issued an order 			establishing the Badge of Military Merit to honor merit, particularly among the 			enlisted soldiers; and



		Whereas, on February 22nd, 1932, the badge of Military Merit was renamed the 			Purple Heart, which is awarded to any member of the United States Armed Forces 		wounded or killed and combat by a declared the enemy of the United States; and 





		Whereas, many citizens of Kent County are recipients of the Purple Heart Medal 			as a result of being wounded or killed while engaged in combat with an enemy 			force, construed as a singular meritorious act of essential service; and



		Whereas, the Kent County Levy Court appreciates the sacrifices our Purple Heart 		recipients made while defending freedom and believes specific recognition have 

		accorded them in appreciation of their courage and to demonstrate the honor 			and support they earned; 



		Now, therefore, be it resolved that on this the 9th day of November, 2021, the 			Kent County Levy Court hereby declares Kent County Delaware as a Purple 			Heart County, honoring the service and sacrifices of our men and women in 			uniform wounded or killed by the enemy while serving to protect the freedoms of 			all Americans; and



		Be it further resolved that a copy of this resolution shall be forwarded to the 			Military Order of the Purple.



M-21-238	Motion to approve Resolution 3904 was made by Mr. Angel; seconded by 

		Mr. Sweeney; carried by Roll Call vote six (6) yeas; one (1) absent.



Mr. Pepper:  Gentlemen, congratulations.  I guess the best words for it would be welcome to Levy Court.  Thank you for coming to represent the Purple Heart recipients.  We are honored to do this for you and designating Kent County a Purple Heart County.  We have many heroes from Kent County, and it's just one way that we can recognize them and we appreciate you being here tonight.  Thank you for carrying it on your mission, appreciate it.



Mr. Angel:  Yes thank you very much.  My father just passed and I buried him this past week and he was a Purple Heart recipient.  In fact, he should have had to Purple Hearts and when I went after to get his second Purple Heart, he said, son one's enough.  Thank you very much *INAUDIBLE* heroes. 



Mrs. Masten:  Thank you so much for your service and it's an honor to be here with all of you.



Mr. Howell:  I agree, thank you very much for being here.  It’s an honor for us.  We appreciate your service.  Thank you.



Mr. Sweeney:  Thank you for service and we appreciate you coming out and I’m very happy to do this. 



Mr. Hall:  Very honored to have you here tonight.  Thank you very much for your service.



Mr. Petit de Mange:  Like Commissioner Angel, my father was severely injured in combat as well during World War II during Operation Husky, the invasion of Sicily.  And so what you represent means a lot to me and my family, we greatly appreciate it.  Thank you. 



Mr. Pepper:  Thank you. And you have something there?  



Unidentified Representation:  Yes, sir, if you don’t mind?



Mr. Pepper:  Sure.



Unidentified Representative:  On behalf of the Military Order of the Purple Heart we have a special recognition to bestow with pride on Kent County, Delaware for your dedication and support of honoring America's combat wounded veterans and becoming a Purple Heart County, presented by the members…Patriot members of the Department of Delaware Military of the Purple Heart.  And we all thank you very much and this will join the rest of that we have in the Country doing the same thing.  It's really the honor.  After Vietnam, we were not welcome back like we are nowadays.  And this is a big thing for us, and we really do appreciate it. 



Mr. Pepper:  Thank you and we will proudly display this and…we'll proudly display that and I think we've got the appropriate place for that.  It's really nice. 



An exchange was made between Mr. Pepper and the representative of the Military of the Purple Heart and commemorative photos were taken of those presents.



*Commissioner Buckson present at 7:20 p.m.

 

Resolution 3905, Special Kent County Presentation



The following was read into the record by Mr. Angel:



Resolution 3905 Kent County Medal for Judy Diogo.



Whereas, President Judy Diogo of the central Delaware Chamber of Commerce is retiring after 17 years of advocating on the behalf of big and small businesses in Kent County at the Delaware General Assembly and before the Levy Court, and spending countless hours organizing community events, supporting Dover Air Force Base, encouraging job growth manufacturing, contributing to the development of the area’s workforce and economic development, promoting tourism’s economic impact, partnering with area organizations and agencies for the good of the central Delaware business community, and in the last 18 months tenaciously rallying for businesses as they have struggled through the COVID-19

Pandemic; and 



Whereas, under her stellar leadership and insightful influence, the CDCC has flourished, experiencing 40% membership growth and expanding its impact and voice in the Dover area business community by demonstrating that the 5-star nationally accredited Chamber is, without a doubt, THE essential resource for businesses in central Delaware; and



Whereas, Judy Diogo is a lifelong Delawarean, born in Houston, and began her career at the Chamber of Commerce for Greater Milford before serving as the director of development at Kent-Sussex Industries, a not-for-profit vocational rehabilitation organization; and 



Whereas, Judy Diogo has been recommended for a Kent County Medal in accordance with the provisions of Kent County Levy Court policy and the requirements thereof; 



Now, therefore, be it resolved that the Kent County Levy Court does hereby recognize, commend, and award Judy Diogo of Dover, Delaware with a Kent County Medal for Meritorious Service on this the 9th day of November 2021.



Mr. Angel:  Even though I just read this into the record, there’s a few more things I want to say that’s not on here.  Your leadership for central Delaware, the Bluesuiters Golf Tournament, the State Base Briefing, Military Affair Honorary Commander program…she's been busy…Judy has an infectious smile that gets things done.  Her optimistic cheerleading chant, rah, rah, ree, kick them in the knee?  Rah, rah, rahs, kick him in the…other knee!  Just to get people to look at what we're doing in our County.  So, with this, I'm going to say you've done a lot, we're going to miss you and I hope you stay close by.  



Mrs. Masten:  Congratulations on a job well done and you will be missed.



Mr. Buckson:  Well, done champ, it's been a pleasure and honor.  I hope you don't leave us and I can call on you for advice because you've been a champion as you already…well, if you don't know you should know.  Thank you very much.



Mr. Pepper:  Judy, you make us look good.  And so you are our…I consider you our number one cheerleader.  And you've done an outstanding job.  Everybody knows you, of course, you know, everybody too.  But you've done an outstanding job for the County.  Really, really hate to let you go, but you're not…at least you're not leaving the State so you'll be close by.  We just wanted to do something to recognize you for all that you've done, all the jobs you've helped create, all the 

people that you've helped, all the businesses that you've helped.  It takes a special person to reach out like you've done and get…bring people together and you've done a fantastic job so that's why we're here tonight to resent you with this.



Mr. Howell:  I agree for the, about 11 years I’ve been with Levy Court I've seen you everywhere, a bunch of times.  And you're active and you're always cheerful.  And this recognition is just a small token for our appreciation.



Mr. Sweeney:  Judy, this is well deserved, everything that you've done for the County.  I sincerely hope that you're not just going to melt into the background because the County will be worse off if you're not continuing to be a part of it.  Thank you. 



Mr. Hall:  Congratulations and it's been honor working with you on the Chamber.  Appreciate your leadership, especially for the last two years.  Trying times and it was really your leadership that, you know instrumental for small businesses in this County. So thank you.



Mr. Petit de Mange:  Judy, a lot's been said, all well, deserved.  I think your greatest attribute, and I've shared this with you before, is your boundless enthusiasm.  No matter what you're doing, where you're at, what the circumstances are, you're always up and, you know, cheerful and as Glen said just a great representative for the entire County, the business community.  I know they all immensely appreciate what you've done over your 17 years with the Chamber.  And, you know, if you could bottle that enthusiasm and sell it you'd make a zillion dollars, I guarantee it.  So congratulations, so glad we were able to honor you this way.



Mr. Pepper:  You're number 34.  We don't just hand this medal out willy  nilly, you really have to deserve it and as you'll see it’s engraved with your name on the back and it also has a number on there, I believe you’re number 34.  So congratulations, well, deserved and now, don't you hate to leave us? 



Ms. Diogo:  *INAUDIBLE*  Well, I'm extremely humbled extremely, extremely, and I'm extremely honored.  It has been such a privilege to work with each and every one of you.  It has been the greatest joy that I have ever had supporting and being the voice for the businesses here in Kent County.  It is something I will always hold dear to my heart and I promise I will never be far away, you all have my number, you know where to call me.  If you need me, I will come at any time.  But it takes a village, and I really do appreciate each and every one of you because each and every one of you have given me so much support through the 17 years and many of the people sitting out here they have just…they've always been there and you just don't do this by yourself.  So I really want to have this opportunity to say, thank you. Thank you all who are in this room for everything that you do because together we make Kent County special.  It's not just one person.  So I thank you.  I am absolutely honored…just thank you so very much.



Mr. Pepper:  Well, you know what, we were so excited to give this to you we kind of got ahead of ourselves.  I don't think we voted did we?  Did we vote to do this?  Lorri, we better take a Roll Call vote to make sure we’re

		still going to give this to her.  (The Commissioners responded with a 

M-21-239 	“Yea” or a raise of the hand).  There you go, never mind Lorri, we got it taken care of.



Everyone joined in for personal congratulations and photographs.



Tributes of Appreciation to Volunteer Youth Sports Coaches



Ms. Tanaka read the following into the record:



There are a total of 42 Volunteer Youth Sports Coaches that this tribute of appreciation has been prepared for.  The tribute reads:



On this Tuesday, November 9th, 2021, the Levy Court pays tribute to these individuals for having volunteered their time and passion, coaching, youth sports through Kent County Parks and Recreation during the Fall of 2021.



Kent County Parks and Recreation sponsors the Kent County Youth Soccer League and the Junior NBA Basketball League that services nearly 500 children and their families in Kent County.  Without the help of volunteer coaches, these leagues would not be possible.  The passion for sports and the youth of Kent County shown by volunteer coaches drives the success of the experience of the participants in families.



The Levy Court sincerely appreciates and thanks these individuals for their outstanding and dedicated service towards making a successful program and for bringing the joy of sports to the children of Kent County.  Congratulations on a job well done.



Jeremy Shepard, Director, Kent County Parks and Recreation:  Okay, just a couple of words before I call down individuals.  Again, you know through the pandemic for almost the last two years there's been a very limited amount of programming that parks and recreation has been able to do.  And it's even harder when you're trying to find people to volunteer during those hard times.  And that's why this is really a special moment because even though a lot of them didn't show up because they're busy with their families and their life they really are just gold to us, you know, in order to continue to run these programs, the best that we can during these tough times.  So, what I'll do is, I'm going to start with the Junior NBA coaches that have come tonight.  I’ll call them down one by one, if you'd like to come down and maybe do the line, shake hands and then stay up for a picture.  Then I'll get to the KYSL.  Okay, does that sound good? All right, first one Amir Willingham, Antwon Parker, Chuck Goodman, Kelby Peace-Bullock, Michael Bowden and Mike Gorman.  Those are our Junior NBA coaches that came tonight.  



Now for our Kent Youth Soccer league, and this league this fall had 403 participants in it so, just an amazing effort.  Our first coach is Alexander Griffin, Amanda Landry, Fernando Villena, and Jeffrey Thompson.  If there was anybody else that came in and didn't get checked in, please let me know.  Okay, alright those are our coaches, some of them.  Again, thank you so much for your volunteer service, without you guys and gals the programs just don't work.  Team photo time, absolutely.  Thank you again everybody.



Mr. Pepper:  Thank you folks, appreciate all your time.



PUBLIC HEARINGS



Resolution Regarding Issuance of Bonds to Finance Projects for Bayhealth Medical Center, Inc.



Mrs. Masten: 

1. A Resolution approving, in accordance with Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and in accordance with Section 660304 (11) (A) of the Wisconsin Statutes, the Issuance of Bonds to Finance Projects for Bayhealth Medical Center, Inc.



Emilie Ninan, Ballard Spahr, Bond Council:  This public hearing and bond transaction is a little bit different than what we usually discuss. These bonds are not actually going to be issued by the County.  It's going to be issued by a different issuer because the project is in two different Counties, in Kent and Sussex.  But the tax code requires that we have a local hearing…public hearing so that those who live close to the project have a chance to comment and then the highest elected official of the County is required to pass the resolution.  In this case because we don't have an elected executive at the County level this resolution is coming to the whole legislative body of Levy Court.  So again, in this case the County itself will not be issuing any bonds. You're just helping facilitate the issuance for Bayhealth and as a result there's no liability to the County, there's no cost to the County.  There's no credit of the County being used for this transaction.  I'm happy to answer any questions.



Mr. Pepper:  Any questions?  



Public Hearing Open on Resolution Regarding Issuance of Bonds to Finance Projects for Bayhealth Medical Center, Inc.



IN FAVOR



Bill Holmes, 724 South State Street, Dover, DE:   I'm very much in favor of this, the hospital is wonderful. We have great nurses, doctors, people that work there are great.  My family has owned property next to the hospital since 1952.  I'm the only person in Dover that still owns property next to the hospital, they bought everybody else out.  I've been trying to sell my property for eight months and the reason I can't sell it is because everybody says, there goes the helicopter and so forth.  But I…  When they gave the smoking ban up, I had a lot of smokers in my backyard.  They burned my fence down and thanks to Dr. Jawahar and the Robbins Hose Company, they put it out.  I never complained about it.  They have trucks parking next to my property line that I have to look at all the time.  And it's a great hospital, I'm all in favor of what they want to do.  But they're devaluing my property and everybody that comes and look at it to buy it says that's why they don't want to buy it.  Now I'm very much in favor of this project and hope you will approve it but at the same time, the hospital has to reach out to me and sit down with me and talk to me.  Either they're going to buy my property or they're going to make some arrangements to stop what's going on in the neighborhood because I'm the only one…I can sit in my kitchen and look at patients in their beds, I’m that close.  They build up to my property so close.  So, I just want to say, I'm very much in favor of this application and I hope that you will approve it.  But I just wanted to give you a little update of what's going on in my world.  I appreciate your time and Santa Claus would like to congratulate Judy for the…for the many years you gave.  And I want to congratulate all you for what you do for the County.  You people do a great job and the County’s lucky to have you.  And thanks for giving me a few minutes so I can get up and say how I feel.  But we have a wonderful hospital.  It's just amazing what they've done there.  I'm not against the hospital.  I'm just going to catch 22.  Thank you very much and I appreciate your time.



Mr. Buckson:  Chairman?  Mr. Holmes?  I know we would all be remiss if we didn't reciprocate the accolades, and thank you for the things that you've done for this community, because they are many.  



Mr. Holmes:  Well I don't know about that, it’s…



Mr. Buckson:  Humbles of pie you eat, I appreciate you and I'm sure the others feel the same way, buddy. 



Mr. Holmes:  Thank you all very much, you're very kind and I appreciate it very much.  Keep up the good work.  God bless you all.  



Mr. Pepper:  Thank you, Bill.  Anyone else in the audience?  Yes, sir, please give your name and address and be sworn or affirmed.



Mike Tretino, 44 Cinnamon Way, Dover, DE:  I serve as the Chief Financial Officer for Bayhealth and I support the projects.  They are severely needed to improve the access of care to grow physicians, there's a huge physician need in Delaware and to provide a single patient rooms for our patients so we don't have roommates during a pandemic.  So, thank you.



Mr. Pepper:  Any questions?  Thank you, sir.  Anyone else?



WebEx participants in favor of this application who wished to address Levy Court were asked to press *3 on their mobile device or raise their electronic hand on their computer.  No response.



IN OPPOSITION - None



WebEx participants in opposition of this application who wished to address Levy Court were asked to press *3 on their mobile device or raise their electronic hand on their computer.  No response.



Public Hearing Closed on Resolution Regarding Issuance of Bonds to Finance Projects for Bayhealth Medical Center, Inc.



M-21-240	Mrs. Masten:  I Motion to approve in accordance with Section 147 (f) of 			the Internal Revenue code of 1986 as amended and in accordance with 			Section 66.0304 (11) (A) of the Wisconsin Statutes, the Issuance of Bonds 		to Finance Projects for Bayhealth Medical Center, Inc.;  seconded by 

		Mr. Angel; carried by Roll Call vote seven (7) yeas.  



Roll Call



Mr. Angel:  Yes, reasons stated by our Bond Council Emilie Ninan and no opposition.



Mr. Buckson:  Yes, reasons stated.



Mr. Hall:  Yes, for reasons stated. 



Mr. Howell:  Yes, reasons stated.



Mrs. Masten:  Yes, reasons stated. 



Mr. Sweeney:  Yes, for all reasons stated. 



Mr. Pepper:  Yes, for all reasons stated.   



Roll Call vote reasons seven (7) yeas.  Resolution 3904 has been approved.



CLOSE PUBLIC HEARINGS



	Recess to Committee Meetings – 7:43 p.m.



	Reconvene Business Meeting – 8:11



	OLD BUSINESS – None 



	NEW BUSINESS



	Mr. Angel:  Potential Action Items from Committee:

1. Update on Proposed Grant Programs for Small Business & Hospitality Industry



M-21-241	I Move to designate $3 Million in Kent County American Rescue Plan Act 		funding for the purpose of establishing a Kent County Small Business 			Assistant Grant Program in partnership with the Central Delaware 				Chamber of Commerce that will provide financial relief for non for profit 			small businesses based in Kent County that can be successfully 				demonstrate negative financial impacts on their business as a direct result 			of COVID-19 Pandemic through a Grant Application and Review Process 			established and administered by the Central Delaware Chamber of 				Commerce; and 



I further Move to designate $2 Million in Kent County American Rescue Plan Act funding for the purpose of establishing a Kent County Hospitality Industry Grant Program in partnership with Kent County Tourism Corporation that will provide financial relief to for-profit tourism industry businesses located in Kent County, including but not limited to hotels, motels, banquet and meeting room facilities, that can successfully demonstrate negative financial impacts on their business as a direct result of the COVID-19 Pandemic through a Grant Application and Review Process established and administered by Kent County Tourism Corporation; seconded by Mrs. Masten; carried by Roll Call vote seven (7) yeas.



2. Kent Economic Partnership – Strategic Fund Requests

1) USA Fulfillment



M-21-242	I Move to authorize the issuance of an Economic Development Grant in 			the amount of $10,000 to USA Fulfillment as financial assistance to 			acquire automated conveyance equipment, scanners, and a Cubiscan 			shipping solution, to be installed in their plant located at 1886 Lynsbury 			Woods Road, Kent County, Delaware; with the source of the funding for 			said Grant being the Kent County Strategic Development Fund, and I 			further Move that 100% of the said Grant amount shall be disbursed to the 			Grantee upon receipt by the County of evidence that the said property 			purchase has been consummated and equipment installed; seconded by 			Mr. Hall; carried by Roll Call vote seven (7) yeas.



2) Garrison Redesign



M-21-243	I Move to authorize the issuance of an Economic Development Grant in 			the amount of $6,000 to City of Dover as financial assistance for a 				redesign investigation/concept plan of the Garrison Oak Industrial Park 			located in Kent County, Delaware; with the source of the funding for said 			Grant being the Kent County Strategic Development Fund, and I further 			Move that 100% of the said Grant amount shall be disbursed to the 			Grantee upon receipt by the County of evidence that the said redesign 			invoice has been paid in full; seconded by Mr. Sweeney; carried by Roll 			Call vote seven (7) yeas.



		Mr. Buckson: 

1. Reintroduce Ordinance LC21-15, An Ordinance to amend the Comprehensive Plan Map Designation and the Official Zoning Map of Kent County, Delaware pursuant to the provisions of Kent County Code, Vol. II, Chapter 205 Zoning, Article III, Section 205-8 and Section 205-9, and Article XXVII (changes and amendments) effective December 01, 2000, as amended (Reference Application CZ-21-04) for Public Hearing on Tuesday, December 21, 2021 at 7 p.m. 



2. Introduction of Ordinance LC21-22, An Ordinance to amend the Comprehensive Plan Map Designation and the Official Zoning Map of Kent County, Delaware pursuant to the provisions of Kent County Code, Vol. II, Chapter 205 Zoning, Article III, Section 205-8 and Section 205-9, and Article XXVIII (changes and amendments) effective December 01, 2000, as amended. (Reference Application CZ-21-08) for Public Hearing on Tuesday, December 21, 2021 at 7 p.m.



OTHER BUSINESS



Mr. Angel:

M-21-244	Move to go into Executive Session immediately following the Committee 			Meetings of November 16, 2021 for preliminary discussion on site 				acquisition for a publicly funded capital improvement; legal strategy 			session regarding collective bargaining or pending or potential litigation; 			and personnel matters pursuant to 29 Del. C. 10004(b) (2), (4), and (9); 			seconded by Mr. Sweeney; carried by Roll Call vote seven (7) yeas.



		INFORMATIONAL ITEMS – None 



	PUBLIC COMMENTS – None 

 

	COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 



	Mrs. Masten:  Just a quick question.  Do we have an update on the hiring 	potential project manager for the ARPA funds?



Mr. Petit de Mange:  Sure, the RFP submission deadline was last Monday and we received seven submissions.  We're in the early stages of reviewing them.  I'm lining up some of the department managers to help with the review.  Our goal would be to have a recommendation back for Levy Court by the first meeting in December.



Mrs. Masten:  Thank you.



Mr. Sweeney:  As an employee of a district in Smyrna I can tell you that I ride through Smyrna on a regular basis and I just want to commend Commissioner Masten for the 30,000…13,000 American flags that are posted in homes of veterans up and down Route 13 businesses in Smyrna for the Veterans Day.  They do this every year for military celebrations and veteran celebrations.  You did a great job you and your 50 friends, thank you for that.  	

		

M-21-245	Motion to adjourn was made by Mr. Angel; seconded by Mr. Sweeney; 			carried by Roll Call vote seven (7) yeas.  			8:41 p.m.















		_____________________________ 

	Brenda Wootten

	Clerk of the Peace
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